STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 14 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Spartanburg County
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2022-000371
Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2024-001707

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
SHAWN TORLIF DAILY,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549 Columbia,
SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the court of appeals err in reversing Judge Kelly's admission of the PPG evidence because it applied an incorrect standard of review, and disregarded Judge Kelly's careful and meaningful exercise of his discretion, as well as the undisputed evidence before him which established the PPG is a recognized reliable scientific measure of deviant sexual interest in the field of sex offender evaluation and treatment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March 2022, a jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that Respondent Shawn Torlif Daily is a sexually violent predator as defined by the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA), and he was committed to the Department of Mental Health (DMH) for long term control, care and treatment. The court of appeals reversed the jury verdict by published opinion filed June 12, 2025, finding Judge Kelly erred by allowing the State's expert to testify regarding a penile plethysmograph (PPG) performed during Respondent's evaluation. The State petitioned for rehearing, which the court of appeals denied. The State petitioned for a writ of certiorari to the court of appeals, which this Court granted by Order filed February 12, 2025.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2010, Respondent Shawn Torlif Daily pled guilty in Spartanburg County to three counts of lewd act on a minor, and was sentenced to fifteen years incarceration on each count, suspended upon service of ten years and five years probation. Prior to Respondent's release from incarceration, Petitioner State of South Carolina commenced proceedings pursuant to the SVPA seeking Respondent's commitment to DMH for long term control, care and treatment as a sexually violent predator. The matter was called for a jury trial on March 14, 2022, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge.

Prior to trial, Respondent moved to exclude any testimony by the State's expert regarding a PPG performed during a comprehensive psychosexual evaluation of Respondent's mental status and risk to reoffend sexually, and the State filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion. (Appendix pp. 414-436). Before swearing the jury, Judge Kelly conducted a full evidentiary hearing pursuant to State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), during which Emily Gottfried, Ph.D., of the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC) and the Director of the MUSC Sexual Behavior Clinic and Lab (SBCL), was qualified as an expert in forensic psychology. By stipulation, Dr. Gottfried was also specifically qualified as an expert on the PPG, and she was the sole witness at the Council hearing. (Appendix p. 20).

Pre-Trial Testimony and Ruling

Dr. Gottfried testified she is an Associate Professor of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences at MUSC, and the Director of MUSC's SBCL. In her capacity as Director, she oversees all SBCL administrative duties, and performs most of the forensic evaluations. She sits on the Executive

Committee of the Association for Treatment of Sexual Abusers (ATSA),¹ chairs the ATSA Research Committee, and is president-elect of the American Psychological Association Division 12 (clinical psychology) Assessment Section. She is a member of the South Carolina Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers, the American Psychological Association, the American Academy of Forensic Sciences, the Society for Personality Assessment, and other professional associations. She is also part of an international standardization research group focusing on the PPG. (Appendix, pp. 21-23).

Dr. Gottfried testified she has approximately thirty-six peer-reviewed publications or book chapters in peer-reviewed scholarly books. She has presented over sixty times at professional conferences, and gives trainings and webinar presentations for national and international universities. Four or five of her peer-reviewed publications and ten to twelve of her conference presentations related specifically to the PPG. During her tenure at MUSC, Dr. Gottfried has requested PPGs in approximately fifty-two evaluations for SVPA cases, private pre-trial matters, federal probation of sex offenders, and licensing board cases. (Appendix, pp. 23-24).

Consistent with best practices in the field, Dr. Gottfried conducts a comprehensive evaluation that includes data from multiple sources. She reviews the person's criminal and sex offense history and all collateral information, including mental health records, medical records, detention center and prison records. She also conducts a battery of psychological and physiological assessment measures, including the PPG, and scores the results on clinical rated assessment measures to look for risk factors and other factors to guide her clinical opinion. She then conducts a clinical interview with the person based on all the information she gathered from these sources. (Appendix, p. 25).

¹ATSA is now the Association for the Treatment and Prevention of Sexual Abuse.

Limestone Technologies, which developed and manufactured the PPG system used at MUSC, trained and certified Dr. Gottfried to conduct and interpret PPG results. The training includes classroom/online instruction on the history, background and literature of the PPG. After those classes, Limestone conducts multi-day day training sessions requiring actual administration and interpretation of PPGs in real time. Before certification, Limestone requires submission of PPG results that are reviewed for accuracy. The SBCL has been certified as both a clinical and a research laboratory. (Appendix, pp. 26).

Dr. Gottfried testified a PPG is only one data point she considers for evaluation purposes, but it is important because sexual arousal to nonconsensual or abusive stimuli is a strong predictor of sexual recidivism. People being evaluated may not be forthcoming about their sexual arousals, and the PPG provides an objective measure of male sexual arousal. It specifically measures whether they have a greater or equal level of arousal to deviant stimuli as they do to consenting adult scenarios. The PPG has been peer-reviewed in both the sex offender and general sexual behavior literature. (Appendix, pp. 27-29).

All SBCL personnel involved in the PPG process are clinically certified to conduct their part of the PPG, and the SBCL has a standard protocol used in every PPG performed there. The gauge used in a PPG must be calibrated three times before the PPG can start. The PPG equipment and software includes countermeasures in the event the person does something that might interfere with the PPG results, *i.e.*, moving around, changes in breathing pattern, not paying attention, etc. The person is not required to masturbate before the PPG begins or allowed to touch his penis during the PPG, which would show up on the PPG and invalidate it. The SBCL uses a very conservative cut score of 5mm change in penis circumference for significant arousal, while Canadian labs use a cut score of 1.5mm. (Appendix, pp. 30-33).

ATSA Practice Guidelines reference the PPG in multiple places, stating that research supported assessment methods such as the PPG may provide objective behavioral data that may not be readily established through other means, and the Guidelines support the responsible use of the PPG as a data point in sexual behavior evaluations and treatment. Dr. Gottfried stated “responsible use” means you do not administer a PPG in the absence of any other data and then base an opinion regarding diagnosis or risk solely on the PPG results. (Appendix, pp. 33-35).

Dr. Gottfried testified the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, 5th Ed., (DSM-5) recognizes use of the PPG. She further testified that a book published in 2019 entitled “Sexually Violent Predators: A Clinical Science Handbook,” includes a chapter (Chapter 15) entitled “The Use of Penile Plethysmography in SVP Assessment and Treatment Decision-Making,” written by Dr. Joseph Plaud, who is an expert on the PPG. Dr. Plaud determined the PPG is important in both the evaluation and treatment of individuals convicted of sex offenses and being considered for civil commitment as a sexual predator. Dr. Gottfried testified the PPG is generally accepted in the mental health and medical fields. (Appendix, pp. 36-40).

Dr. Gottfried acknowledged that standardization of the PPG is an on-going issue arising primarily from the fact that some countries can do things other countries cannot do, and there are on-going efforts to formulate international standards. Canada uses stimuli that include nude children, which labs in the United States cannot use, and countries do not want to change their methods just for purposes of international standardization. (Appendix, pp. 40-41).

Dr. Gottfried testified it has been noted in some literature that the PPG does not always have expected results, i.e., someone with known offenses against children do not always show arousal to stimuli involving children during a PPG. She stated men who sexually offend against children may do so for multiple reasons that are not due to sexual arousal to prepubescent children,

so it would be expected that they would not show sexual arousal to children on a PPG. A 2019 meta-analysis study considered multiple groups of men, including men who had sexually offended against children, men who had not sexually offended against children, men who had never been arrested before, and men who had reoffended by committing a new sexual offense. The results indicated a “staggering” ability of the PPG to discriminate between the group of men who had offended against children and other groups. (Appendix, pp. 41, 47-48).

The SBCL uses a very conservative cut score of 5mm increase in penis circumference to measure significant sexual arousal to a stimulus trial, which minimizes the possibility of false positive results. It also utilizes two stimulus sets, the Marshall set and the Real Child Voices (RCV) set.² Dr. Gottfried testified the Marshall set was developed a long time ago, and features a monotone male voice reading sexual scenarios featuring prepubescent, pubescent, adult and neutral stimuli, with coercion, persuasion, sexual violence and consenting adults. The RCV uses visual plus audio stimuli trials, which large meta-analysis studies show to be the best stimuli, and it includes actors’ voices and sound effects featuring prepubescent, pubescent, adult, coercion, persuasion and neutral stimuli. Both sets are tailored to the person’s offending patterns, but all tests include the neutral and consensual adult stimulus trials. (Appendix, pp.41-45).

Dr. Gottfried testified all PPG systems sold by Limestone include the RCV stimulus set, and between fifty and one hundred labs in the United States and Canada use it. The RCV set is also used in the sexually violent predator treatment programs in Minnesota, California, Illinois, New York and Missouri. (Appendix, pp. 45-46). The SBCL uses both the Marshall set and the RCV set in order to gather as much data as possible, and while the Marshall set has been used and studied for a long time, the literature suggests visual plus audio stimuli has the highest reliability.

²The Marshall and RCV are stimulus sets. The individual scenarios in the sets are trials.

(Appendix, p. 47). The RCV stimulus set has been peer-reviewed, and studies of it have been peer-reviewed and approved for presentation at professional conferences. (Appendix, pp. 49-50).

Regarding Respondent specifically, Dr. Gottfried testified all the evaluators diagnosed him with pedophilic disorder, sexually aroused to female children, exclusive type, but Respondent never admitted he was sexually aroused by children. The psychological assessment measures Dr. Gottfried used indicated Respondent tried to “self-preserve” and not admit any flaws within himself, so his self-report regarding his sexual arousal might not be as valid as someone who was not defensive. The PPG was important to help determine whether Respondent was currently sexually aroused by children and had no strategies to mitigate his arousal. (Appendix, pp. 50-53).

On cross-examination, Dr. Gottfried confirmed the PPG is part of the SBCL’s standard battery of tests and assessments performed in every evaluation of adult males sent to the lab for evaluation and/or treatment. The lab uses the PPG because it provides physiological data regarding the person’s sexual arousal patterns. (Appendix, pp. 55-57).

Dr. Gottfried again testified the Marshall stimulus set has been used for a long time, and the SBCL uses a combination of the Marshall and the RCV stimulus sets. She stated Dr. Bill Burke, of Summerville, SC, and Musolf (not affiliated with MUSC) developed the RCV set. Dr. Burke has a volunteer faculty appointment at MUSC, and Dr. Gottfried collaborates with him. When asked if Dr. Burke makes a profit off the RCV sets sold, Dr. Gottfried testified: “I would assume so. I’m not privy to that.” (Appendix, pp.59-62).

Judge Kelly took the matter under advisement. After jury selection the next day, Judge Kelly discussed the Council factors in determining whether to admit scientific evidence. On the issue of peer-review, Judge Kelly found the PPG has been peer-reviewed and the subject of numerous publications, including the DSM-5. (Appendix, pp. 143-144).

Judge Kelly further found the PPG is used in over fifty laboratories throughout the United States and some international labs. While there are different standards for some countries, Judge Kelly found there is a standard application of the PPG in the United States. (Appendix, p. 144).

As to the quality control factor, Judge Kelly found the standards Dr. Gottfried testified about met the requirement, including the use of a conservative threshold that errs on the side of false negative results rather than false positive results. Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding how the PPG is administered in the SBCL also satisfied the quality control requirement. (Appendix, pp. 144-145).

Judge Kelly found Dr. Gottfried's testimony established the PPG methodology was consistent with recognized laws and procedures. Specifically, the SBCL uses standard instructions provided by the system manufacturer and employs methods to prevent manipulation of the PPG data. Based on his findings, Judge Kelly found the PPG evidence was admissible, and Respondent's arguments went to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility. (Appendix, pp. 145-146).

Trial Testimony

Dr. Gottfried

Before the jury, Dr. Gottfried was qualified as an expert in forensic psychology and sexual offending behavior. She testified about her qualifications and the protocol she follows in conducting pre-commitment evaluations under the SVPA. (Appendix, pp. 173-182).

In conducting Respondent's evaluation, Dr. Gottfried reviewed police and court documents related to his sex offenses, records related to Respondent's incarceration, Respondent's criminal history report, and the report from the initial evaluation conducted by a DMH evaluator. She stated these are the type of records typically relied on by experts in her field. (Appendix, pp. 184-185).

Dr. Gottfried testified an individual's past behavior is the best predictor of future behavior, and for purposes of recidivism risk, it is important to look at the characteristics of prior offenses, including the facts of the offenses and victim characteristics, to determine if there is a pattern of behavior. She stated she considers all criminal offense allegations as a data point, and allegations that did not result in convictions do not get as much weight, but all of it is important for purposes of a possible diagnosis. As to Respondent, Dr. Gottfried found it significant he did not have a nonsexual criminal history, and his criminal sex offenses were restricted to prepubescent females. (Appendix, pp. 185-187).

According to records Dr. Gottfried reviewed, Respondent was convicted in 2010 of three counts of lewd act with a child under the age of sixteen. The offenses occurred in 1992 or 1994, between 2002-2006 and approximately 2006-2008. He was also charged in 2010 with another lewd act offense, but pled guilty to assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature on that charge. Dr. Gottfried testified it is necessary to examine the underlying behavior behind the convictions as part of assessing whether there is a pattern of conduct that may indicate the person has a mental abnormality or personality disorder. (Appendix, pp. 187-193, 525-533).

The offense records indicated the mother of a victim in one of the 2010 convictions (Z.G.) was an acquaintance of Respondent. Z.G. was six to seven years old at the time of the offenses in 1999, but did not disclose anything until 2008. She reported Respondent sexually touched and hurt her in various ways, including exposing himself to her, asking her to sit on his penis, waking up in Respondent's bed with no clothes on, putting his hand down her pants and rubbing her, and washing her between her legs very slowly while bathing her. When interviewed by law enforcement, Respondent said he did not remember anything like what the victim reported, but he attempted suicide two days after that law enforcement interview. Dr. Gottfried testified this began

a pattern of Respondent offending against prepubescent female children by assuming a caretaker role and using some grooming behaviors. (Appendix, pp. 193-195).

When Dr. Gottfried questioned Respondent about the Z.G. offenses, he initially said all he remembered was an allegation that he rubbed Z.G.'s buttocks underneath her underwear. He then stated he was taking Ambien (sleeping medication) at the time, and he did not know if or when anything occurred, but he had "no doubt of their allegations." (Appendix, pp. 196-198).

Another of Respondent's 2010 convictions involved the daughter (S.B.) of a woman Respondent described as his female best friend. In 2006, when S.B. was approximately six years old, it was reported to law enforcement that Respondent inappropriately touched S.B. at the YMCA, but S.B.'s mother refused to allow law enforcement to interview S.B., so no charges were filed at that time. S.B. subsequently told her mother Respondent sat on the couch naked with a blanket over his lap and had S.B. sit on his lap and she could feel his penis. S.B. further disclosed that when she was with Respondent, he insisted on bathing her and would rub her chest while she was in the tub. S.B.'s mother confronted Respondent, who denied the allegations, and all contact between the mother, S.B. and Respondent ceased. In 2008, S.B.'s mother reported the abuse, which occurred from 2002 to 2006. (Appendix, pp. 198-200).

Respondent told Dr. Gottfried that he babysat S.B. every three to four months and he kept S.B. at his house or took her to the YMCA pool because her mother wanted her to learn how to swim. He stated that when they were at the pool, he helped S.B. put on or take off her bathing suit, and on one occasion S.B. leaned back and her hand touched his penis over his clothing. He again stated he had Ambien in his system and could not recall if he had an erection at that time. He denied the allegation that he sat on the couch naked, stating he had "never been unclothed around [S.B.] consciously," but he pled no contest to the charges because he had no way to refute

the allegations and could not say if it did or did not happen. Dr. Gottfried found the details significant because Respondent offended against a child while he was in a caretaking role, the child's mother was his "best friend," he groomed the child, and he blamed the offenses on not being in his right mind. (Appendix, pp. 200-203).

Respondent was also convicted of lewd act on a minor in connection with offenses against a third victim (B.H.) (Appendix, pp. 531-533). According to records, B.H.'s mother dated Respondent for seven years, and he met B.H. when she was four years old. B.H.'s mother reported that she and Respondent were never physically intimate during their seven year relationship. In 2009, the mother informed law enforcement that Respondent molested B.H. between 2006 and 2008 by digitally penetrating her vagina and rubbing her back in her "private area." When Dr. Gottfried asked Respondent about the allegations, he stated he had little recollection or memory because of taking more Ambien than he should have, and he could not refute the allegations. Dr. Gottfried found this offense significant because it involved another minor Respondent had access to through a relationship with the minor's mother, and Respondent assumed a caretaker role for the minor. (Appendix, pp. 203-207).

Respondent was charged with lewd act on a minor arising from an incident in 1994 or 1995 involving a four-year-old victim (B.J.) that was reported in 2009, and he pled guilty in 2010 to assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature on that charge. Records indicated Respondent knew B.J. because he had worked with her mother, and when B.J. was in the bathroom, Respondent touched her vagina and put her hand on his penis. When questioned by law enforcement in 2009, Respondent stated he had no memory of going to the location where the molestation occurred. Dr. Gottfried testified B.J. was Respondent's first victim, and the incident started Respondent's fifteen

to seventeen year pattern of offending against prepubescent females he had access to via relationships with their mothers. (Appendix, pp. 207-210).

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