RECEIVED

Apr 28 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF SHAWN TORLIF DAILY,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001707

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Dr. Gottfried claimed the PPG has been widely used since 1950 and has been subject to peer review, not just in the sexual offending literature, but also in general sexual literature, such as literature involving erectile dysfunction and “general sexual wellbeing and health.” She further maintained that the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab employs several quality control measures. First, “everybody [at the lab] who is involved in PPG testing is certified (by Limestone, the manufacturer). So the person who administers it, the person who interprets it, everybody has been clinically certified to do that part of the evaluation.” Additionally, the “strain

gauge” is calibrated three times before each test. The SBCL also uses “countermeasures to help make sure it’s a valid administration.” Essentially, the lab employs measures to prevent the examinee from cheating. The technician measures the examinee’s respirations and his movement. They also require the examinee to press a number on a keypad whenever the stimuli becomes sexual or violent to ensure the individual is paying attention. Lastly, the technician will ask the examinee to briefly describe the scenario he just heard to ensure he is paying attention. App. 29, l. 3 – 30, l. 22; App. 54, ll. 13-18.

Dr. Gottfried conceded that there is a lack of standardization in the stimulus sets used by PPG examiners. Most of the countries that use the PPG can show some aspect of child pornography. However, in the United States, there is no medical exception to the federal child pornography laws so the stimulus sets cannot contain child pornography. App. 28, ll. 4-22. In addition to the stimulus sets, Dr. Gottfried admitted there is a lack of standardization in the scoring. In Canada, for example, examiners “use a much less conservative cut score” to measure arousal. In the United States, examiners use a “cut score of 5 millimeters of change” to the circumference of the penis, while in Canada, examiners use a cut score of one to 1.5 millimeters of change. App. 32, l. 23 – 33, l. 5.

Dr. Gottfried contended that the PPG is “generally accepted in the mental health and medical field” but again conceded standardization is a problem. R. 36, ll. 11-19. She testified that she is a member of an “international standardization group” which strives to standardize the PPG. However, there is a lot of resistance worldwide because various examiners do not want to change their methods. Dr. Gottfried explained that another recognized problem is that the PPG does not “always have expected results.” For example, an individual who sexually offended

against children may not “always show arousal while undergoing a PPG to children.” App. 40, l. 11 – 41, l. 15.

Dr. Gottfried personally uses two stimulus sets when administering the PPG: the Marshall and the Real Child Voices. Examiners usually use different stimulus sets and those are the two that Dr. Gottfried chooses to use. App. 60, ll. 1-11. However, she “tailors” the stimulus sets for each individual examinee. For example, if an examinee’s sexual offenses are against children, she may “skip” the stimuli depicting rape of an adult woman. Dr. Gottfried maintained that tailoring the stimulus set does not mean the PPG lacks standardization. App. 66, l. 23 – 68, l. 16.

Real Child Voices, one of the stimulus sets used by Dr. Gottfried, is a relatively new stimulus set developed by Dr. William Burke of Summerville. Dr. Gottfried admitted that she and Dr. Gregg Dwyer, the former director of the SBCL, both collaborate with Dr. Burke. Dr. Burke also has a volunteer faculty appointment at MUSC. The Real Child Voices stimulus set comes with all PPGs sold by Limestone and Dr. Burke profits off these sales. Another available stimulus set in the United States is called the Monarch. App. 61, l. 9 – 62, l. 18.

Dr. Gottfried explained that there are “three widely available [PPG] systems.” One of these systems is the Limestone. Dr. Gottfried testified that she prefers the Limestone system because of “the calibration and standardization stuff.” She contended it is the “most reliable” system available. App. 61, ll. 17-23. This testimony demonstrates that there is a lack of standardization in the “systems” used by various examiners in addition to the stimulus sets.

When questioned about test/retest reliability, Dr. Gottfried explained that the examinee is presented with multiple stimuli presentations which enables the examiner to look for consistency

within a single PPG test. However, she admitted that she could not retest an individual a week later and obtain consistent results. App. 64, l. 9 – 65, l. 8.

After Dr. Gottfried's *in camera* testimony, the trial judge took the matter under advisement. App. 76, ll. 19-25. The following morning he ruled Dr. Gottfried's testimony concerning the PPG Respondent underwent and the results and conclusions derived therefrom was admissible. The judge explained that he reviewed Rule 702, Council, and Jones. In support of his ruling, he emphasized that Dr. Gottfried testified the PPG has been subjected to peer review and has been the subject of numerous publications. She also testified that "this method [stimulus set] is in use in over 50 laboratories throughout the United States . . . And while there is some international cooperation, there are different standards for some countries and the United States." The judge concluded that based on this testimony, "there is a standard application in the United States." As to quality control procedures, the judge found this standard was met. He highlighted Dr. Gottfried's testimony that examiners in the United States use a "conservative threshold" to "err on the side of a false negative rather than a false positive." Lastly, the judge concluded there was consistency of the method since the Real Child Voices stimulus set comes standard with the PPG system when purchased from the manufacturer and Dr. Gottfried and other technicians use standard instructions when administering the exam. The judge concluded that Respondent's arguments or concerns "go to the weight of the testimony, not its admissibility." App. 143, l. 19 – 146, l. 2.

In her testimony before the jury, Dr. Gottfried explained that the PPG "is a physiological test, *objective* test of male sexual arousal." App. 226, ll. 9-11 (emphasis added). She maintained that the test is useful "in evaluations like these" because people have an "understandable motivation or reason for not being completely forthcoming about what is arousing to them,

especially if it's something that can cause them shame, or could get them civilly committed.” App. 224, ll. 3-18. When later asked why she uses the PPG, Dr. Gottfried asserted, “It’s really, really important to *objectively* know what this person is aroused by, because we can, for the most part, reasonably expect that somebody is not going to come in and say, ‘I’m aroused by children.’ Or they may say, ‘I was, but I’m not now.’ And so *the PPG is going to give you data about today on the day of the assessment what they were aroused by* in the laboratory.” She further maintained that the PPG “has the greatest validity and reliability, so the statistics for it are the best for people who are aroused by children.” App. 236, l 8 – 237, l. 6 (emphasis added).

Dr. Gottfried contended that Respondent’s “results were right in line with his offenses. So he had clinically significant sexual arousal to trials featuring sexual activity with a female infant, a preschool aged female child, and a grammar school or elementary school aged child. And those were really consistent with his offense behaviors.” She further maintained Respondent “didn’t show clinically significant arousal to consenting adults.” App. 237, l. 21 – 238, l. 6. Dr. Gottfried told the jury that when she “did the mathematical equations” Respondent’s arousal to prepubescent female children was “more than two and a half standard deviations greater [than his arousal to consenting adults]. So what that means without explaining standard deviations and these scores, is that he [Respondent] showed a clear preference for children - - for the child scenarios over the adult scenarios.” App. 238, ll. 6-13.

The jury ultimately found Respondent was a sexually violent predator pursuant to the SVPA. App. 410, ll. 11-23.

Respondent filed a timely notice of appeal. Respondent argued on appeal that the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting the results from the PPG test Respondent underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702,

SCRE, State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), and the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE.

The Court of Appeals reversed Respondent's commitment holding the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting the PPG evidence because the PPG is not reliable as required by Rule 702. App. 638. The Court of Appeals further held the error in admitting the PPG evidence was not harmless. App. 639-640.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court’s sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 161-62, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020), reh’g denied (Dec. 22, 2020) (quoting State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262-263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

In this sexually violent predator (SVP) case, the Court of Appeals correctly held the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting evidence through the state's expert witness about the penile plethysmograph (PPG) Respondent underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), and any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the trial judge abused his discretion by permitting Dr. Emily Gottfried, who was qualified as an expert in “forensic psychology and sexual offending behavior,” to testify about the PPG test Respondent underwent and the results and conclusions derived therefrom since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010). Moreover, the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

“The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides: If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

“Expert testimony receives additional scrutiny relative to other evidentiary decisions. Specifically, in executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court *must* make three key preliminary

findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. Finally, *the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.*” Id. (emphasis added) (internal citation marks omitted).

To determine reliability, the trial judge should apply the factors outlined by this Court in State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979), including: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). “Further, if the evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge should determine if its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Id. (citing Rule 403, SCRE).

Dr. Gottfried vaguely maintained that the PPG has been subjected to peer review both in the “sexual offending literature” and the “general sexual literature.” App. 23, l. 16 – 24, l. 1; App. 29, ll. 2-14. While she also stated the Real Child Voices stimulus set, which was utilized during the PPG Respondent underwent, has been peer reviewed, she did so in a conclusory manner. App. 49, ll. 12-14.

Dr. Gottfried openly admitted there is a lack of standardization in the stimulus sets used by PPG examiners. Most of the countries that use the PPG can show some aspect of child pornography. However, in the United States, there is no medical exception to the federal child

pornography laws so the stimulus sets cannot contain child pornography. Moreover, Dr. Gottfried “tailors” the stimulus sets for each individual examinee. App. 66, l. 23 – 68, l. 16. Consequently, not every examinee is shown the same trials within each stimulus set. In addition to the stimulus sets, Dr. Gottfried admitted there is a lack of standardization in the scoring. In Canada, for example, examiners “use a much less conservative cut score” to measure arousal. In the United States, examiners use a “cut score of 5 millimeters of change” to the circumference of the penis, while in Canada, examiners use a cut score of one to 1.5 millimeters of change. App. 32, l. 4 – 33, l. 5. There are also multiple PPG “systems.” Dr. Gottfried prefers to use the system manufactured by Limestone because she believe it is the “most reliable.” App. 61, ll. 17-23.

Dr. Gottfried contended that the PPG is “generally accepted in the mental health and medical field” but again conceded standardization is a problem. She testified that she is a member of an “international standardization group” which strives to standardize the PPG. However, there is a lot of resistance worldwide because various examiners do not want to change their methods. Dr. Gottfried explained that another recognized problem is that the PPG does not “always have expected results.” For example, an individual who sexually offended against children may not “always show arousal while undergoing a PPG to children.” App. 40, l. 11 – 41, l. 15.

Respectfully, the trial judge appeared to ignore this evidence concerning the lack of standardization and based his ruling in large part on Dr. Gottfried’s testimony that over fifty laboratories throughout the United States use the Real Child Voices stimulus set. See App. 144, ll. 4-16. Additionally, while the trial judge credited Dr. Gottfried’s testimony about the quality control procedures, these procedures were designed to prevent individuals from cheating. The

quality control measures did not relate to one of the central concerns with PPGs—whether the subjects are aroused by what the stimulus set claims is the focus of the arousal.

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